
 

 

Am unrhyw ymholiad yn ymwneud â'r agenda hwn cysylltwch â  Sharon Hughes 
 (Rhif Ffôn: 01443 864281  Ebost: hughesj@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Dyddiad: 4 Gorffennaf 2023 

 
I bwy bynnag a fynno wybod,  
 
Bydd cyfarfod aml-leoliado’r Pwyllgor Cynllunio yn cael ei gynnal yn y Siambr, Tŷ Penallta a thrwy 
Microsoft Teams ar Dydd Mercher, 12fed Gorffennaf, 2023 am 5.00 pm i ystyried materion a gynhwysir 

yn yr agenda canlynol.  Mae croeso i chi ddefnyddio’r iaith Gymraeg yn y cyfarfod, a dylid rhoi cyfnod 
rhybudd o 3 diwrnod gwaith os ydych yn dymuno gwneud hynny. Bydd gwasanaeth cyfieithu ar y pryd yn 
cael ei ddarparu ar gais. 
 
Gall aelodau'r Cyhoedd neu'r Wasg fynychu'n bersonol yn Nhŷ Penallta neu gallant weld y cyfarfod yn fyw 
drwy'r ddolen ganlynol: https://civico.net/caerphilly .   
 

Bydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei ffrydio'n fyw ac yn cael ei recordio a bydd ar gael i'w weld ar wefan y 
Cyngor, ac eithrio trafodaethau sy'n ymwneud ag eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig. Felly, bydd y 
delweddau/sain o’r unigolion sy’n bresennol a/neu’n siarad yn y Pwyllgor Cynllunio ar gael i’r cyhoedd 
drwy’r recordiad ar wefan y Cyngor  
 

 
Gall partïon â diddordeb wneud cais i siarad am unrhyw eitem ar yr agenda hon. I gael rhagor o fanylion 
am y broses hon, cysylltwch â Chlerc y Pwyllgor hughesj@caerffili.gov.uk.  
 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Tudalennau 
  

Public Document Pack

https://civico.net/caerphilly
https://civico.net/caerphilly
mailto:hughesj@caerffili.gov.uk


1  I dderbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.   
 

 

2  Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb. 
 

Atgoffi’r Cynghorwyr a Swyddogion o'u cyfrifoldeb personol i ddatgan unrhyw fuddiannau 
personol a/neu niweidiol mewn perthynas ag unrhyw eitem o fusnes ar yr agenda hwn yn unol â 
Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 2000, Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor a'r Cod Ymddygiad ar gyfer Cynghorwyr 
a Swyddogion. 

 
 
I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:- 
 
3  Cynhaliwyd y Pwyllgor Cynllunio ar 14eg Mehefin 2023.   

1 - 6 
 

I dderbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiad(au) canlynol:- 
 
4  Rhif y cais. 22/1057/FULL - Uned 2, Clos Coed y Deri, Ystâd Ddiwydiannol Pen-y-fan, Pen-y-

fan, Casnewydd.   
7 - 24 

 
5  Rhif y cais. 23/0315/LA - Ysgol a Chanolfan Adnoddau Cae'r Drindod, Caerphilly Road, Ystrad 

Mynach, Hengoed CF82 7XW.   
25 - 50 

 

 
Cylchrediad: 

Cynghorwyr M.A. Adams, Mrs E.M. Aldworth (Is Gadeirydd), A. Angel, R. Chapman, N. Dix, G. Ead, 
J.E. Fussell, A. Hussey, D. Ingram-Jones, B. Miles, M. Powell, R. Saralis (Cadeirydd), J. Taylor, 
S. Williams, A. Whitcombe a K. Woodland 
 
A Swyddogion Priodol 
 
 
SUT FYDDWN YN DEFNYDDIO EICH GWYBODAETH 
Bydd yr unigolion hynny sy’n mynychu cyfarfodydd pwyllgor i siarad/roi tystiolaeth yn cael eu henwi yng nghofnodion y cyfarfo d 
hynny, weithiau bydd hyn yn cynnwys eu man gweithio neu fusnes a’r barnau a fynegir. Bydd cofnodion o’r cyfarfod gan gynnwys 
manylion y siaradwyr ar gael i’r cyhoedd ar wefan y Cyngor ar www.caerffili.gov.uk. ac eithrio am drafodaethau sy’n ymwneud a g 
eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig.  
 
Mae gennych nifer o hawliau mewn perthynas â’r wybodaeth, gan gynnwys yr hawl i gael mynediad at wybodaeth sydd gennym 
amdanoch a’r hawl i gwyno os ydych yn anhapus gyda’r modd y mae eich gwybodaeth yn cael ei brosesu.  
Am wybodaeth bellach ar sut rydym yn prosesu eich gwybodaeth a’ch hawliau, ewch i’r Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd Cyfarfodydd 
Pwyllgor Llawn ar ein gwefan neu cysylltwch â Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol drwy e-bostio griffd2@caerffili.gov.uk  neu ffoniwch  
01443 863028. 

 

http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd
http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd


 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF THE MULTI-LOCATIONAL MEETING HELD AT PENALLTA HOUSE  

AND VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS ON WEDNESDAY, 14TH JUNE 2023  
AT 5:00 PM 

 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor R. Saralis – Chair 
Councillor Mrs E. M. Aldworth – Vice Chair 

 
 

Councillors: 
 

M. A. Adams, A. Angel, R. Chapman, N. Dix, G. Ead, J. E. Fussell, A. Hussey, M. Powell, 
J. Taylor, S. Williams, A. Whitcombe and K. Woodland. 
 
Cabinet Member: Councillor P. Leonard (Planning and Public Protection). 

 
 

Together with: 
 

V. Julian (Senior Lawyer), R. Kyte (Head of Regeneration and Planning), R. Thomas 
(Planning Services Manager), C. Powell (Team Leader Development Management), E. 
Rowley (Principal Planner), A. Pyne (Principal Planner), J. Burrows (Planning and 
Enforcement Officer), L. Cooper (Assistant Engineer), M. Godfrey (Team Leader - 
Pollution Control), D. McGlynn (Placemaking and Building Conservation Officer) and  
S. Hughes (Committee Services Officer). 
 
 

Also present to speak on applications: 
 
Agenda Item 4 – N. Heard (Agent). 
 

Agenda Item 6 – C. Brimble (Local Resident) and Councillor J. Pritchard. 
 

 
RECORDING, FILMING AND VOTING ARRANGEMENTS 

 

The Chair reminded those present that the meeting was being live-streamed and 
recorded and would be made available following the meeting via the Council’s website – 
Click Here to View.  Members were advised that voting on decisions would be taken via 
Microsoft Forms.   

 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors D. Ingram-Jones and B. Miles. 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

https://civico.net/caerphilly


2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

  
R. Kyte (Head of Regeneration and Planning) declared an interest in Agenda Item 5. 
Application No. 23/0273/FULL – Land At Grid Ref 315481 186875, Park Lane, Caerphilly, 
as Caerphilly County Borough Council is the applicant and the project stems from the 
Regeneration Team for which she is Head of Service.  She left the meeting whilst the 
application was discussed.  Details are also minuted with the respective item. 

 
 
3. MINUTES – 17TH MAY 2023 

 
It was moved and seconded that the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 
the 17th May 2023 be agreed as a correct record.  By way of Microsoft Forms (and in 
noting there were 11 for, 0 against and 1 abstention) this was agreed by the majority 
present. 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on  
17th May 2023 (minute nos. 1-4) be approved as a correct record. 

 
 
4.  APPLICATION NO. 23/0247/FULL - UNIT 4, HEADS OF THE VALLEYS INDUSTRIAL 

ESTATE, RHYMNEY  
 

The Planning Case Officer presented the application, with it confirmed in the 
accompanying report that the recommendation in respect of the proposal had taken full 
account of, and was in conformity with, both Future Wales and Planning Policy Wales 
Edition 11.   
 
N. Heard (Agent) spoke in relation the application. 

 
Following consideration of the application it was moved and seconded that, subject to the 
amendment of Condition 16 and the conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the 
recommendation be approved.  By way of Microsoft Forms (and in noting there were 14 
for, 0 against and 0 abstentions) this was unanimously agreed. 

 
RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) Subject to the amendment of Condition 16 and the conditions contained in 

the Officer’s report, the application be GRANTED. 
 
Amended Condition 16 

 

Prior to beneficial occupation of the building hereby approved the details 
and location of any goods, material, plant or machinery to be stored in the 
external yard area shall first be submitted for consideration and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter 
be implemented in accordance with the agreed scheme. 

 
REASON: To retain effective control of the development in the interests of 
the amenity of the area and highway safety in accordance with Policies 
SP6, CW2 and CW3 of the Caerphilly County Borough Local Development 
Plan up to 2021. 

 
(ii) The applicant be advised of the comments of The Transportation 

Engineering Manager.   
 

(iii) The applicant be advised that the existing access into the site does not 
form part of the adopted highway network; therefore, any alterations to it in 

Page 2



terms of amended access points/dropped crossings required to facilitate 
proposed layout would require the consent of the landowner. 

 
(iv) The applicant be advised to refer to Public Access on the Council's website 

to view the comments of the consultees that are brought to the applicant's 
attention.  Informative information is also provided. 

 
(v) The applicant be advised that the proposed development lies within an 

area that has been defined by the Coal Authority as containing coal mining 
features at surface or shallow depth.  These features may include: mine 
entries (shafts and adits); shallow coal workings; geological features 
(fissures and break lines); mine gas and former surface mining sites. 
Although such features are seldom readily visible, they can often be 
present and problems can occur, particularly as a result of new 
development taking place. 

 
Any form of development over or within the influencing distance of a mine 
entry can be dangerous and raises significant land stability and public 
safety risks.  As a general precautionary principle, the Coal Authority 
considers that the building over or within the influencing distance of a mine 
entry should be avoided. In exceptional circumstance where this is 
unavoidable, expert advice must be sought to ensure that a suitable 
engineering design which takes into account all the relevant safety and 
environmental risk factors, including mine gas and mine-water.  Your 
attention is drawn to the Coal Authority Policy in relation to new 
development and mine entries. 

 
Any intrusive activities which disturb or enter any coal seams, coal mine 
workings or coal mine entries (shafts and adits) requires a Coal Authority 
Permit.  Such activities could include site investigation boreholes, 
excavations for foundations, piling activities, other ground works and any 
subsequent treatment of coal mine workings and coal mine entries for 
ground stability purposes.  Failure to obtain a Coal Authority Permit for 
such activities is trespass, with the potential for court action. 
 
If any coal mining features are unexpectedly encountered during 
development, this should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 
0345 762 6848.  Further information is available on the Coal Authority 
Website. 

 
(vi) The applicant be advised: 

WARNING: 
SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE APPROVAL IS REQUIRED PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF THIS DEVELOPMENT. 
 
Please note from the 7th January 2019, Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 commenced in Wales requiring all new 
developments of more than one house or where the construction area is of 
100m2 or more to implement sustainable drainage to manage on-site 
surface water.  Surface water drainage systems must be designed and 
built in accordance with mandatory standards for sustainable drainage 
published by Welsh Ministers. 
 
The Sustainable Drainage Approval process is a technical approval 
independent of the need to obtain planning permission, and as such you 
are advised to contact the Sustainable Drainage Approval Body.  Their 
details are provided below: 

Page 3

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-on-or-within-the-influencing-distance-of-mine-entries
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority
http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority


 
Phone: 01443 866511 
Email: drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab 

 
(vii) The applicant be advised: 

NOTIFICATION OF INITIATION OF DEVELOPMENT AND DISPLAY OF 
NOTICE: 
 
You must comply with your duties in section 71ZB (notification of initiation 
of development and display of notice: Wales) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.  The duties include: 
 
Notice of initiation of development: 
Before beginning any development to which this planning permission 
relates, notice must be given to the local planning authority in the form set 
out in Schedule 5A to the town and Country Planning (development 
Management procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 or in a form substantially to 
the like effect.  The form sets out the details which must be given to the 
local planning authority to comply with this duty. 
 
Display of Notice: 
The person carrying out the development to which this planning permission 
relates must display at or near the place where the development is being 
carried out, at all times when it is being carried out, a notice of this 
planning permission in the form set out in Schedule 5B to the Town and 
country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 
2012 or in a form substantially to the like effect.  The form sets out the 
details the person carrying out development must display to comply with 
this duty. 
 
The person carrying out the development must ensure the notice is: 
(a) Firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place at or near the place 
where the development is being carried out; 
(b) legible and easily visible to the public without having to enter the site; 
and 
(c) printed on durable material. The person carrying out development 
should take reasonable steps to protect the notice (against it being 
removed, obscured or defaced) and, if need be, replace it. 

 
 
5. APPLICATION NO. 23/0273/FULL - LAND AT GRID REF 315481 186875, 

PARK LANE, CAERPHILLY  
 

R. Kyte (Head of Regeneration and Planning) declared an interest as Caerphilly County 
Borough Council is the applicant and the project stems from the Regeneration Team for 
which she is Head of Service.  She left the meeting whilst the application was discussed. 

 
The Planning Case Officer presented the application, with it confirmed in the 
accompanying report that the recommendation in respect of the proposal had taken full 
account of, and was in conformity with, both Future Wales and Planning Policy Wales 
Edition 11.   
 
C. Brimble (Local Resident) spoke in objection to the application and Councillor J. 
Pritchard spoke in support of the application. 
 
It was moved and seconded that, subject to the conditions contained in the Officer’s 

Page 4

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab


report, the recommendation be approved.   
 
An amendment was then proposed and seconded to defer for reasons for refusal, based 
on the prematurity of the application given that it already has extant permission.   
 
With the approval of the proposer the Chair took the vote on the substantive motion, 
subject to the conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the recommendation be 
approved, in that Members voting for would be voting for the Officers recommendation 
and those voting against would be voting to defer for reasons for refusal.  By way of 
Microsoft Forms (and in noting there were 10 for, 2 against and 2 abstentions) this was 
agreed by the majority present. 

 
RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) Subject to the conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the application 

be GRANTED. 
 

(ii) The applicant be advised of the comments of Dwr Cymru, Chief Fire 
Officer, The Council's Environmental Health Officer, Rights of Way Officer, 
Land Drainage Officer. 

 
(iii) The applicant be advised: 

WARNING: 
SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE APPROVAL IS REQUIRED PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF THIS DEVELOPMENT. 

 
Please note from the 7th January 2019, Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 commenced in Wales requiring all new 
developments of more than one house or where the construction area is of 
100m2 or more to implement sustainable drainage to manage on-site 
surface water.  Surface water drainage systems must be designed and 
built in accordance with mandatory standards for sustainable drainage 
published by Welsh Ministers. 
 
The Sustainable Drainage Approval process is a technical approval 
independent of the need to obtain planning permission, and as such you 
are advised to contact the Sustainable Drainage Approval Body.  Their 
details are provided below: 

 
Phone: 01443 866511 
Email: drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab 

 
 
6. APPLICATION NO. 23/0321/COU - 161 HIGH STREET, BLACKWOOD, NP12 

1AA.  
 

The Planning Case Officer presented the application, with it confirmed in the 
accompanying report that the recommendation in respect of the proposal had taken full 
account of, and was in conformity with, both Future Wales and Planning Policy Wales 
Edition 11.   

 
Following consideration of the application it was moved and seconded that, subject to the 
conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the recommendation be approved.  By way of 
Microsoft Forms (and in noting there were 14 for, 0 against and 0 abstentions) this was 
unanimously agreed. 

 

Page 5

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab


RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) Subject to the conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the application 

be GRANTED. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

The meeting closed at 6.35 pm. 
 
 

 
Approved as a correct record and subject to any amendments or corrections agreed and 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting held on 12th July 2023, they were signed by the 
Chair. 
 
 
 
 
 

_______________________ 
CHAIR 

Page 6



Application Number: 22/1057/FULL 
 

Date Received: 18.05.2023 

 
Applicant: Kay Premium Marking Films 

 
Description and Location of Development:  Extend existing manufacturing and 

storage facility and conduct associated works - Unit 2 Oakwood Close Pen-y-fan 
Industrial Estate Pen-y-fan Newport 
 
APPLICATION TYPE: Full Application 

 

SITE AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

Location: The application site is located on the eastern side of Parkway and on the 
northern side of Oakwood Close within the wider Penyfan, Croespenmaen Industrial 
Estate. 

 
Site description: An open area of grassed land and vegetation immediately adjacent to 

the host building and is enclosed by a gravel perimeter road, beyond that to the north 
are mature trees. The site is generally flat with a slight cross fall between the northern 
and southern boundaries, the level change is more significant between the temporary 

gravel road and northern most part of the boundary. To the east there is a mixture of 
hard and soft landscaping and a shared access road leading to the neighbouring 'ANR-

Probake' premises. Oakwood Close Road forms the southern boundary of the site with 
an access road leading to the Senior Automotive premises forming the western 
boundary of the site. The existing perimeter is secured by a combination of fencing and 

mature planting. 
 

Development: Full planning permission is sought to extend the existing manufacturing 
and storage facility and conduct associated works. 
 

Dimensions: The proposed extension building has a maximum footprint measuring 84 
metres long and 39 metres wide with the eaves height measuring 8.05 metres and the 

ridge height measuring 12.10 metres. An additional 2920 square metres of gross 
internal floor area (GIA) would be created to serve the existing operational floor space 
comprising of 2880 square metres GIA. 

 
Materials: The external finishes comprise of vertical insulated wall and roof cladding 

panels, facing brick plinths and piers, aluminium drip flashing and soffits together with 
aluminium framed roof lights. 
 

Ancillary development, e.g., parking: 5 additional car parking spaces are proposed 
which intends to increase the overall car parking provision to 54 spaces and includes 

disabled car parking spaces. Provision for electric vehicle charging points is also 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



indicated along with alterations and improvements to existing landscaping within the site 
including new 2.25 metre high retaining walls. 

 
PLANNING HISTORY 2010 TO PRESENT 10/0630/FULL - Extend existing car park - 

Granted - 19.10.2010. 
 
POLICY 

 
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up 

to 2021 - Adopted November 2010. 
 
Site Allocation: The application site is within settlement limits and is designated as a 

Secondary Employment Site, EM 2.10 Penyfan, Croespenmaen. 
 

Policies: SP2 (Development Strategy - Development in the Northern Connections 
Corridor (NCC)), SP5 (Settlement Boundaries), SP6 (Place Making), CW2 (Amenity), 
CW3 (Design Considerations - Highways), CW6 (Trees, Woodland and Hedgerow 

Protection), CW15 (General Locational Constraints), EM2 (Employment Sites 
Protection) together with advice contained within LDP 4 (Trees and Development). 

 
NATIONAL POLICY Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (2021), Planning Policy 
Wales Edition 11 (2021), Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016), Technical Advice 

Note 18: Transport (March 2007) and Technical Advice Note 23: Economic 
Development (February 2014). 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

Did the application have to be screened for an EIA? No in that the area of development 
does not exceed 5 hectares of industrial estate development. 

 
Was an EIA required? Not applicable. 
 

COAL MINING LEGACY 
 

Is the site within an area where there are mining legacy issues? The site is located 
within a low risk coal mining legacy area, informative advice will however be provided 
and should any issues arise this will be dealt with through the Building Regulations 

approval process. 
 

CONSULTATION 
 
Senior Engineer (Drainage) - Advises that the proposed development requires 

Sustainable Drainage Approval. 
 

Landscape Architect - CCBC - No objection subject to conditions. 
 

Page 8



Transportation Engineering Manager - CCBC - No objection subject to conditions to 
secure parking, electric vehicle charging provision and implementation of the Staff 

Travel Plan. 
 

Environmental Health Manager - No objection subject to the imposition of conditions to 
any consent in relation to contamination, a scheme for sound insulation, details of any 
external plant or machinery, restricting the external hours of operation, restricting any 

existing hours of operation together with schemes for noise and dust control during the 
construction phase of the development. 

 
Ecologist - No objection subject to imposition of a planning condition to secure the 
details and implementation of a Biodiversity Conservation and Enhancement Strategy. 

 
Dwr Cymru - No objection but provides informative advice to the developer. 

 
Senior Arboricultural Officer (Trees) - Previous concerns have now be overcome subject 
to conditions and the proposal takes the opportunity to make a positive contribution to 

the diversification of existing species. 
 

ADVERTISEMENT 
 
Extent of advertisement: The application was advertised by way of a site notice and 

seven neighbouring industrial units were consulted. 
 

Response: None. 
 
Summary of observations: Not applicable. 

 
SECTION 17 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 

 
What is the likely effect of the determination of this application on the need for the Local 
Planning Authority to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area? 

There are no specific crime and disorder implications material to the determination of 
this application. 

 
EU HABITATS DIRECTIVE 
 

Does the development affect any protected wildlife species? Based on current 
evidence, the proposal is unlikely to have a significant impact on biodiversity. However, 

Policy 9 of Future Wales - The National Plan 2040 states that action towards securing 
the maintenance and enhancement of biodiversity (to provide a net benefit), the 
resilience of ecosystems and green infrastructure assets must be demonstrated as part 

of development proposals through innovative, nature based approaches to site planning 
and the design of the built environment. As scheme for biodiversity enhancement will 

therefore be sought should members approve the proposed development. 
 

Page 9



COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 

Is this development Community Infrastructure Levy liable? Yes the development is CIL 
liable in that more than 100 metres of new floor space is to be created however the use 

of the building is charged at £0 per square metre and therefore no chargeable CIL will 
be collected. 
 

ANALYSIS 
 

Policies: The application has been considered in accordance with national guidance and 
policy and local plan policies. The main considerations in the determination of this 
application are whether the proposed extension and associated works are acceptable in 

terms of the design together with their impact on the existing trees and ecology within 
the site, neighbouring amenity and highway safety. 

 
General development control considerations are set out in policies SP6 (Place making), 
CW2 (Amenity) and CW3 (Design Considerations-Highways) of the Local Development 

Plan (LDP). 
 

Strategic Policy SP6 (Placemaking) sets out criteria relating to place making, notably 
that development should seek an appropriate mix in respect of the role and function of 
its settlement and realise the efficient use of land. The application site is located within a 

designated secondary employment site and the proposed extension and associated 
works are intended to serve the host building and the manufacturing and storage 

operations that take place within it. The extension would be located alongside the 
northern elevation and within the rear curtilage of the site. 
 

From a placemaking perspective the surrounding area is predominately characterised 
by industrial units built during the early 1990's and all appear to be of a similar design 

with two storey height buildings with the offices located to the front of the building and 
the industrial areas discreetly located at the rear. In terms of the general design and 
external finishes, the proposed extension would be in keeping with the character of the 

industrial estate. In terms of the scale of the extension its footprint would be comparable 
to that of the host building however the eaves height would measure 1.3 metres taller 

and overall ridge height 2.4 metres taller. In normal circumstances, extensions should 
not dominate the host building, however given the industrial nature of the estate along 
with its positioning located in the eastern corner of Oakwood Close, it is not considered 

that the moderate increase to the eaves and ridge would introduce a discordant element 
to the wider industrial character of the surrounding area in that there are taller buildings 

located on the Penyfan Industrial Estate to the north and west of the site. Furthermore, 
wider views into the site particularly from public vantage points such as Parkway and 
Penyfan Country Park, would be screened by the existing landscaped bunds and 

associated established landscaping fronting Parkway. Consequently, it is not 
considered that the proposed extension and associated works would give rise to any 

adverse impacts on the character of the surrounding area and would only serve to 
reinforce the industrial setting of the employment site. 

Page 10



 
Policy SP6 also requires development proposals to contribute to the creation of 

sustainable places by having full regard to the context of the local, natural, historic and 
built environment and its special features. In that regard the application site and those 

areas adjacent to it forms part of a longstanding employment site, however there are 
existing green areas, trees and scrub within the site as well as a small proportion of the 
woodland to the north that would be affected by the proposed development. However, 

those green infrastructure impacts need to be weighed and balanced against the 
operational requirements of the applicants and consider whether any adverse impacts 

can be minimised through appropriate mitigation. Further consideration of the existing 
and proposed green infrastructure assets will be discussed later. 
 

Lastly Policy SP6 requires new development to incorporate resource efficiency and 
passive solar gain through layout, materials, construction techniques, water 

conservation and where appropriate through the use of Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Systems (SUDS). The planning system has to play a role in making the development 
resilient to tackling the climate emergency through the decarbonisation of the energy 

system, improving air quality and the sustainable management of natural resources 
along with shaping the social, economic, environmental and cultural factors which 

determine health and which promote or impact on well-being in line with the Healthier 
Wales goal as part of the Well-being of Future Generations Act. 
 

In that the proposed development exceeds more than 100 square metres of floor space 
the development will require SUDs approval. The sustainable drainage strategy 

considers the long-term effects of development in terms of the wider challenges of 
climate change and urbanisation to provide a long-term solution to water drainage, 
pollution, and environmental damage. The drainage strategy doesn't just consider the 

quantity of water that needs to be removed from the site as a whole, but also considers 
the quality of water and how it may then be used to enhance the site in order to improve 

the amenity aesthetics and green infrastructure of the industrial estate. Various methods 
of sustainable drainage across the site include a green roof, bio-retention planters, rain 
gardens, rainwater harvesting tanks, underground geo-cellular attenuation tanks and 

permeable paving, and those technical details will require consideration from the 
Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB) and is an independent approval process 

outside of planning legislation. 
 
In addition, to minimise energy efficiency further measures include constructing the 

extension from responsibly sourced materials, the incorporation of solar photo voltaic 
roof panels, and the provision of on-site electric vehicle charging infrastructure. In the 

longer term the proposed extension will also reduce the existing operational 
requirements to acquire off-site storage space, which in turn reduces the amount of 
unnecessary short journeys in terms of road miles travelled and minimises the overall 

carbon footprint of the company. 
 

In tandem with criterion G of Policy SP6, Policy SP10 (Conservation of Natural 
Heritage) is of relevance and indicates that the Council will protect, conserve, enhance 

Page 11



and manage this asset in the consideration of all development proposals. The 
employment site holds no designations for nature conservation although a total of 8 

Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs) can be found within a 1km radius 
of the site. This includes the Pen-y-Fan Industrial Estate Woodland, Oakdale SINC 

which is a known roosting site for a particular bat species. The remaining SINCs were 
not considered of particular ecological relevance to the site given their physical 
separation and qualifying features which mostly consist of priority habitats and 

vegetation which will not be affected by the proposed development. 
 

The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) and the 
desktop survey records along with the Extended Phase 1 Habitat survey undertaken in 
January 2022 confirmed that the application site as a whole is covered in areas of 

existing buildings and hardstanding, with parcels of poor semi-improved grassland, 
amenity grassland and established landscaping. The areas surveyed were considered 

to hold very limited ecological importance with a limited range of habitats present within 
the site, most of which reflect its current industrial use. The Council's Ecologist has 
reviewed the information and no objection is raised subject to the submission of a 

Biodiversity Strategy. This can be secured as a pre-commencement condition. The 
proposed development therefore accords with Policy SP10. 

 
Policy CW6 (Trees, Woodland and Hedgerow Protection) and Supplementary Planning 
Guidance LDP 4 requires proposals to ensure that effective measures are taken to 

ensure the protection of existing trees and hedgerows on development sites. Trees and 
Hedgerows make a positive contribution to both the natural and built environment. They 

enhance the character and diversity of the landscape and offer substantial 
environmental benefits. The policy and guidance sets out various criterion to justify 
permitting development on proposal sites containing trees, woodlands or hedgerows 

and the supporting explanatory text further provides advice and guidance in respect of 
protection during the construction process, biodiversity, ecological and amenity 

implications and appropriate replacements where the loss of trees and woodlands are 
unavoidable. 
 

The application is supported by an Arboricultural Implications Assessment and Tree 
Constraints Plan. In terms of the green infrastructure impacts to accommodate the 

proposed development the following vegetation and trees would be removed: 
 
Individual business park trees and dense unmanaged tree groups, varying in terms of 

quality and condition, with a high degree of Ash dieback requiring immediate attention; 
586 square meters of broadleaved woodland; and 

1282 square meters of removed mass shrub planting. 
 
The impact on the planted woodland to the north of the proposals is a necessary 

temporary construction impact, which allows the replanting of the majority of the area 
with new woodland planting. However, it should be noted that the presence of Ash die 

back within and adjacent to the site has infected many trees and the detailed planting 
scheme and long-term management of the adjacent woodland would provide the 

Page 12



opportunity to replace failing tree groups and minimise further exposure to future tree 
felling. 

 
The green infrastructure impacts have therefore been minimised and comprehensive 

landscaping, habitat mitigation and enhancement are proposed. The scope of the 
mitigation and enhancement measures can be summarised as: 
 

47 new specimen tree planting; 
250 square meters of new wild flower attenuation basin; 

371 square meters of new woodland planting; 
250 square meters of new diverse grassland; 
716 square meters of new green roof; and 

53 square meters of new shrubs. 
 

The quantity and mix of mitigation and enhancement is considered to be proportionate, 
balancing and enhancing habitat loss with the introduction of the green roof being 
considered significant in terms of biodiversity benefit and habitat and new nectar 

source. The Council's Landscape Architect and Aboricultural Officers have reviewed the 
submitted details and the landscaping/tree planting scheme has evolved through 

discussions. Subject to the imposition of a planning condition to secure the long-term 
management of the adjacent woodland, it is considered that the proposed development 
would not have an unacceptable impact on the natural heritage of the area and 

therefore complies with Policies SP10 and CW6. 
 

Policy CW2 relates to amenity and states that development proposals should have no 
unacceptable impact on the amenity of adjacent properties or land; should not result in 
the over-development of the site; and the proposed use is compatible with surrounding 

land-uses. In that regard given that the application site forms part of a designated 
secondary employment allocation, the application site is surrounded by other industrial/ 

warehouse/commercial uses and given the distances away from the nearest residential 
properties, which are in excess of 250 metres, the proposed development is considered 
to be compatible with the surrounding land uses and would not result in any significant 

harm in terms of visual amenity of the surrounding area or residential amenity. 
Furthermore, the proposed development can accommodate the relevant levels of car 

parking and operational space along with providing soft landscaping and sustainable 
drainage features areas within the site and as such is not considered to represent over-
development. On that basis subject to conditions imposed to any consent, the proposed 

development accords with Policy CW2. 
 

Policy CW3 (Design Considerations - Highways) considers highway safety and 
development proposals should have regard for the safe, effective and efficient use of 
the transportation network. In that regard adequate provision has been made for 

parking, operational and servicing movements within the site. The existing access 
arrangements will remain unaltered, however 6 car parking spaces are to be upgraded 

to include electrical vehicle charging points and an additional 5 car parking spaces will 

Page 13



be provided constructed from permeable paving, increasing the total number of 
available car parking space to 54, bicycle storage is also provided. 

 
The Transport Statement (TS) which accompanies the application notes that the 

proposed extension will result in an increase of around 25 additional members of staff; 
comprising of 6 production staff for each of the three manufacturing shifts and 7 
additional office staff. It is estimated that the 7 additional office staff will arrive prior to 9 

am and depart after 5 pm. There will be 6 production staff arriving to start at 2 pm for 
the second shift, therefore working on a worst case scenario of all employees travelling 

alone by private vehicle the development will result in the volume of traffic being 
generated by the site increasing from 10 to 17 vehicle movements during the morning 
peak hour of 8:00-09:00 hours and 13 to 20 vehicle movements during the evening 

peak hour of 17:00 to 18:00 hours, which is not considered to be a significant increase, 
and 6 others that will depart after 2 pm. The third shift changeover times will occur 

around 22:00-06:00 hours when the highway network is at it quietest.  
 
Notwithstanding the maximum number of staff vehicle movements anticipated the TS 

also notes that the proposed extension will no longer require the company to acquire 
off-site storage provision in Croespenmaen Industrial Estate and in turn will eliminate 

the daily shuttle journeys ranging between 2 and 6 deliveries (4 to 12 movements) 
between the site and the warehouse. Moreover, the overall increase in floor space and 
manufacturing capacity will not increase delivery vehicle movements which stands at 28 

deliveries per month including 6 articulated vehicles, in that there is sufficient capacity to 
transport larger quantities of materials in and goods out on the same vehicles that 

currently visit the site. 
 
The application is also accompanied by a Staff Travel Plan with its intended purpose to 

encourage and influence long-term changes in sustainable travel behaviours with a view 
to improving the health of all users to the site and to encourage greater take up of 

walking and cycling to the site for locally employed staff as well as contributing to the 
wider issue and commitment to reduce vehicle emissions. 
 

The Transportation Engineering Manager has concluded that the proposed 
development would not have any adverse impacts on the safe and efficient use of the 

transportation network, subject to conditions imposed to any consent and as such 
complies with Policy CW3. 
 

Having regard to the above observations the proposed development accords with 
policies SP6, SP10, CW2, CW3 and CW6 of the Caerphilly County Borough Local 

Development Plan up to 2021 - Adopted November 2010. 
 
Comments from consultees: The Environmental Health Manager has requested a 

number of conditions relating to a scheme for sound insulation, restricting the external 
hours of operation and schemes for noise and dust control during the construction 

phase of the development. In that regard the conditions are considered onerous given 
the sites location on a designated employment site and the distance away from the 

Page 14



nearest residential receptors. Furthermore, the extension would enclose the existing 
open air yard areas within the site and in that there were no restricted external hours of 

operation for the original consent on the site in 1991, it would not be reasonable or 
necessary to impose hours of operation as part of this application that would adversely 

impact existing operations at the site. 
 
Comments from public: None. 

 
Other material considerations: None. 

 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, has been considered in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 

under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. In reaching 
the recommendation below, the ways of working set out at section 5 of that Act have 

been taken into account, and it is considered that the recommendation is consistent with 
the sustainable development principle as required by section 8 of that Act. 
 

Future Wales - The National Plan 2040 was published on 24 February 2021 and forms 
part of the statutory development plan for the county borough. In addition to this 

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) has been amended to take account of Future Wales and 
PPW Edition 11 has also been published on 24th February 2021. In reaching the 
conclusion below full account has been taken of both Future Wales and PPW Edition 11 

and where they are particularly pertinent to the consideration of the proposals they have 
been considered as part of the officer's report. It is considered that the 

recommendation(s) in respect of the proposals is (are) in conformity with both Future 
Wales and PPW Edition 11. 
 

RECOMMENDATION that Permission be GRANTED 
 

This permission is subject to the following condition(s) 
 
 

01) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five 
years from the date of this permission. 

 REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 

02) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents: 

 Dwg No. KPMF-LAW-XX-ZZ-DR-A-039000 Rev P5 Site Location Plan received 
on 09.03.2023; 

 Dwg No. 9000 Rev P02 Site Plan External Lighting Lux Level received on 

09.03.2023; 
 Dwg No. KPMF-LAW-XX-ZZ-DR-A-062001 Rev P6 Proposed Site Plan received 

on 09.03.2023; 

Page 15



 Dwg No. KPMF-LAW-02-G00-DR-A-061001 Rev P5 Proposed Ground Floor 
Plan received on 09.03.2023; 

 Dwg No. KPMF-LAW-02-ZZ-DR-A-069001 Rev P4 Proposed Elevations received 
on 09.03.2023; 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal prepared by Soltys Brewster Ecology received 
on 09.03.2023; 

 Report 6289/NIA1 Noise Impact Assessment prepared by Hunter Acoustics Ltd 

received on 09.03.2023; 
 Report S1 Rev P02 Travel Plan prepared by Cambria received on 09.03.2023; 

 Report S1 Rev P02 Transport Statement prepared by Cambria received on 
09.03.2023; 

 Dwg No. CC2333 CAM XX XX DR C 0119 Rev P01 Vehicle Tracking - 

Articulated HGV received on 09.03.2023; 
 Dwg No. CC2333 CAM XX XX SK C 0103 Rev P05 Vehicle Tracking - 

Articulated HGV and Fire Tender received on 09.03.2023; 
 Dwg No. CC2333 CAM XX XX SK C 0104 Rev P01 Vehicle Tracking - Car 

received on 09.03.2023; 

 Green Infrastructure Statement Revision B received on 05.04.2023; 
 Dwg No. 2283801-SBC-00-XX-DR-L-004 Rev PL04 Proposed Removed 

Vegetation received on 05.04.2023; 
 Dwg No. 2283801-SBC-00-XX-DR-L-001 Rev PL12 Strategic Landscape/GI Plan 

received on 05.04.2023; 

 Dwg No. 2283801-SBC-00-XX-DR-L- 401 Rev C03 Detailed Soft Landscape 
Plan received on 17.05.2023; 

 Arboricultural Implications Assessment received on 17.05.2023; and 
 Dwg No. 23-031 Tree Constraints Plan received on 17.05.2023. 
 REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the 

Local Planning Authority. 
 

03) Prior to the commencement of the development a scheme shall be submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority to deal with the 
contamination of the site. That scheme shall include a ground investigation and a 

risk assessment to identify the extent of the contamination and the measures to 
be taken to avoid risk to the occupants of the development when the site is 

developed. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

 REASON: In the interests of public health in accordance with Policy CW2 of the 

Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 
 

04) Before any soils or hardcore that do not fall within the green category set out in 
Table 2 of the WLGA document 'Requirements for the Chemical Testing of 
Imported Materials for Various End Uses and Validation of Cover Systems 2013' 

are brought on to site, a scheme for their importation and testing for 
contamination shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 

Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

Page 16



 REASON: In the interests of public health and in accordance with Policy CW2 of 
the Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
05) No building approved by this permission shall be occupied or approved uses 

commence until a report has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority which verifies that the required works have been 
undertaken in accordance with the remediation strategy. 

 REASON: To protect public health and in accordance with Policy CW2 of the 
Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
06) Prior to the commencement of the development a scheme shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for external site lighting 

including details of the lighting units, levels of illumination and hours of use. No 
lighting shall be provided at the site other than in accordance with the approved 

scheme. 
 REASON: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with policy CW2 

of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
07) Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, detai ls of all external 

and roof mounted plant/machinery associated with the application shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning authority. These 
details shall include the location of the plant and predicted noise levels 

(measured as a LAeq 1 hour) as measured on the boundary of the application 
site. Thereafter these agreed details shall be fully installed prior to the use of 

each of the units commencing. 
 REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with policy 

CW2 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 

2021. 
 

08) Prior to the commencement of development, a Biodiversity Strategy shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
strategy shall include, but not be exclusively limited to: Working methodologies 

including timing/phasing, wildlife friendly drainage, protection measures during 
construction, lighting design, reptile clearance strategy, use of native species in 

the planting scheme, provision of bird boxes and a biodiverse species planting 
mix for amenity/roadside grassed areas. The strategy shall be implemented as 
agreed. 

 REASON: To secure mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures for 
biodiversity on site, in accordance with Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment 

(Wales) Act 2016, Planning Policy Wales (February 2021) and Tan 5 Nature 
Conservation and Planning (2009). 

 

09) All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any 

part of the extension or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority. Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years 

Page 17



from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of 

similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written 
consent to any variation. 

 REASON: To ensure that the works are carried out as approved in the interests 
of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies CW2 and SP6 of the 
adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
10) Prior to the commencement of works on site a woodland management plan for a 

minimum of 5 years, including long term objectives, management responsibilities 
and maintenance schedules for the woodland area along the northern boundary 
of the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. 
 REASON: To ensure that the woodland area is satisfactorily managed and 

maintained in the long term in the interests of the visual amenity of the area in 

accordance with policies SP10, CW2 and CW6 of the adopted Caerphilly County 
Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
11) The following activities must not be carried out under any circumstances: 
 a) no fires shall be lit within 10 metres of the nearest point of the canopy of any 

retained tree. 
 b) no works shall proceed until the appropriate Tree Protection Barriers are in 

place, with the exception of initial tree works. 
 c) no equipment, signage, fencing, tree protection barriers, materials, 

components, utilities, vehicles or structures shall be attached to or supported by 

a retained tree. 
 d) no mixing of cement or use of other materials or substances shall take place 

within a Root Protection Area (RPA), or close enough to a RPA that seepage or 
displacement of those materials or substances could cause them to enter a RPA 

 e) no alterations or variations to the approved works or tree protection schemes 

shall be carried out without the prior written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 REASON: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policies CW2 and 
CW6 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 
2021. 

 
12) In this condition a "retained tree" is an existing tree which is to be retained in 

accordance with the approved plans and particulars; and paragraphs (a) and (b) 
below shall have effect until the expiration of 5 years from the date of the 
occupation of the building or the commencement of use of the approved 

development for its permitted use. 
 a, No retained tree shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any 

retained tree be pruned in any manner, be it branches, stems or roots, other than 
in accordance with the approved plans and particulars, without the prior written 

Page 18



approval of the Local Planning Authority. All tree works shall be carried out in 
accordance with BS3998. 

 b, If any retained tree is cut down, uprooted, destroyed or dies, another tree shall 
be planted at the same place and that tree shall be of such size and species, and 

shall be planted at such time, as may be specified in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 REASON: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policies CW2 and 

CW6 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 
2021. 

 
13) The extension hereby approved shall not be occupied until the areas indicated 

for the parking of vehicles have been laid out in accordance with the submitted 

plans and surfaced in permanent materials. Those areas shall not thereafter be 
used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles. 

 REASON: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CW3 of 
the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 

14) The Staff Travel Plan as submitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 
timescales contained therein with regards to reducing the reliance of staff on 

commuting trips by car. 
 REASON: To encourage sustainable travel modes by staff to and from the site in 

accordance with policy CW3 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local 

Development Plan up to 2021. 
 

15) Notwithstanding the submitted plans prior to works commencing on site the 
details and locations of six electric vehicle charging points to be provided within 
the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The extension shall be completed in accordance with the approved 
details and the charging points shall be operational with active provision prior to 

occupation of the extension and shall be maintained in perpetuity thereafter free 
of obstruction for the parking of motor vehicles only. 

 REASON: To ensure that adequate mitigation is provided in respect of air quality 

together with promoting sustainable modes of transport in accordance with policy 
CW1 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 

2021. 
 
 

Advisory Note(s) 
 

The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain 
unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining feature is encountered 
during development, this should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 

762 6848. 
  

Further information is also available on the Coal Authority website at: 
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority. 

Page 19



 
Please refer to Public Access to view the full comments of the consultees that are 

brought to the applicant's attention. 
 

Mature trees are potential bat roosts. All bat species and their roosts are protected by 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 and its amendment 2012, 
which transposes the EC Habitats Directive 1992 into UK legislation, and the Wildlife 

and Countryside Act 1981. If bats are discovered, then all works should stop 
immediately and the Countryside Council for Wales should be contacted for advice on 

any special precautions, and whether a licence is required, before continuing. 
 
Please also be advised that works should not take place that will disturb nesting birds 

from March to July inclusive. All British birds (while nesting, building nests and sitting on 
eggs), their nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are protected by law under 

Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside 
and Rights of Way Act 2000. If birds are nesting on/in or within the vicinity of the 
proposed development, work should be undertaken outside the breeding season for 

birds to ensure their protection, i.e., works should only be undertaken between August 
and February. Further advice on the above can be sought from the local authority 

ecologists (01495 235253) or Natural Resources Wales (NRW) (029 20 772400). 
 
WARNING:  

SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE APPROVAL IS REQUIRED PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF THIS DEVELOPMENT. 

  
Please note from the 7th January 2019, Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 commenced in Wales requiring all new developments of more 

than one house or where the construction area is of 100m2 or more to implement 
sustainable drainage to manage on-site surface water. Surface water drainage systems 

must be designed and built in accordance with mandatory standards for sustainable 
drainage published by Welsh Ministers.  
  

The Sustainable Drainage Approval process is a technical approval independent of the 
need to obtain planning permission, and as such you are advised to contact the 

Sustainable Drainage Approval Body. Their details are provided below: 
  
Phone: 01443 866511 

Email: drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk   
Website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab 

 
Notification of initiation of development and display of notice: 
You must comply with your duties in section 71ZB (notification of initiation of 

development and display of notice: Wales) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
The duties include: 

  

Page 20



Notice of initiation of development: 
Before beginning any development to which this planning permission relates, notice 

must be given to the local planning authority in the form set out in Schedule 5A to the 
town and Country Planning (development Management procedure) (Wales) Order 2012  

or in a form substantially to the like effect. The form sets out the details which must be 
given to the local planning authority to comply with this duty. 
  

Display of Notice: 
The person carrying out the development to which this planning permission relates must 

display at or near the place where the development is being carried out, at all times 
when it is being carried out, a notice of this planning permission in the form set out in 
Schedule 5B to the Town and country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 

(Wales) Order 2012 or in a form substantially to the like effect.  The form sets out the 
details the person carrying out development must display to comply with this duty. 

The person carrying out the development must ensure the notice is: 
(a) Firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place at or near the place where the 
development is being carried out; 

(b) Legible and easily visible to the public without having to enter the site; and 
(c) Printed on durable material. The person carrying out development should take 

reasonable steps to protect the notice (against it being removed, obscured or defaced) 
and, if need be, replace it. 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



22/1057/FULL 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



Application Number: 23/0315/LA 
 

Date Received: 10.05.2023 

 
Applicant: CCBC 

 
Description and Location of Development:  Erect a two storey extension, single 

storey link to form a new main entrance to the school, additional parking, outdoor play 
spaces and associated works - Trinity Fields School And Resource Centre Caerphilly 

Road Ystrad Mynach Hengoed CF82 7XW 
 
APPLICATION TYPE: Local Authority Application 

 
SITE AND DEVELOPMENT 

 
Location: The school site is located to the rear of Ty Graddfa on the western side of 
Caerphilly Road, Ystrad Mynach. 

 
Site description: The existing school is a single storey modern school building set within 

extensive grounds including a large car park and playing areas etc. The building is 
finished in facing brickwork with a tiled roof. 
 

To the north of the existing school site lies Holy Trinity Church, its grounds and Church 
Hall. A residential estate is located to the west of the site with the nearest residential 

properties of Trinity Close adjoining the site. Penallta Rugby Club and Caerphilly County 
Borough Council's Ty Graddfa offices are located immediately to the south-east. The 
sports playing pitches known as Trinity Pitch 1 (T1) and Trinity Pitch 2 (T2) lie to the 

south and south-west of the site running into an area of park land designated as 
(LE1.19 Ystrad Mynach Park). The park however is not within the curtilage of the 

application site. 
 
The area on which the extension is to be constructed is currently used for parking and 

drop off purposes and is largely made up of a mixture of brick pavers, tarmac and 
managed grass areas. 

 
Development: The application seeks full planning consent to erect a two storey 
extension, single storey link to form a new main entrance to the school, additional 

parking, outdoor play spaces and associated works. 
 

The extension will provide additional classrooms with specialist intervention areas, 
including a new soft playroom available for community use outside of school hours, 
outdoor play spaces together with a relocated memorial garden and school allotment 

area. 
 

The planning application and related plans are supported with the following documents: 
- Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) Report; 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



- Design and Access Statement; 
- Planning Statement; 

- Bat Survey; 
- Preliminary Ecological Assessment; 

- Arboricultural Report; 
- Tree Survey; 
- Construction Environmental Management Plan; 

- Baseline Noise Survey; 
- Ground Investigation Report; 

- Transport Statement; 
- Travel Plan; 
- Technical Design Note; 

- Energy Statement; 
- Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy; 

- Drainage and SUDs Strategy; 
- Materials Schedule; 
- Cycle Storage Details; and 

- 3D Visualisations. 
 

Dimensions: The two storey extension has a maximum footprint measuring 55.3 metres 
wide by 19.0 metres long with a maximum height measuring 13.55 metres above 
ground level. 

 
The single storey link measures 13.2 metres wide by 8.75 metres long with an overall 

height measuring 4.2 metres above ground level. 
The Gross External Area (GEA) combined measures a total of 2,2387 square metres. 
 

Materials: The external finishes comprise of mixed pattern brickwork, basalt zinc mineral 
board rainscreen cladding, red, green and yellow mineral board rainscreen reveals, grey 

aluminium curtain wall frame glazing, louvres and doors, grey glazed spandrel panels, 
grey colour coated steel rainwater goods, grey pressed aluminium copings, acrylic roof 
canopies and green and blue roofs. 

 
The hard landscaping comprises of porous resin bound gravel and porous rubber crumb 

play areas. 
 
Ancillary development, e.g. parking: The following additional works are proposed:- 

 
Increase the total car parking provision for the school to 105 car parking spaces, this is 

an increase on the existing of 78 spaces and will be achieved by locating a new car 
parking area of 15 spaces to the east of the school and immediately north of Ty 
Graddfa, as well as a 36 car parking area between the T1 sports pitch and park to the 

south of the site comprised of a no dig construction, and two additional spaces on the 
access road leading to the school gates. The additional provision includes 8 accessible 

parking bays located near the main entrance to the school and 4 electric vehicle 

Page 26



charging bays located in the school car park to the east. In addition, there are also 3 
motorcycle bays proposed. 

 
- A 10 bay cycle shelter will be provided to the north of the main entrance; 

 
- A new one-way covered drop-off area will also be provided; and 
 

- The inclusion of photovoltaic panel arrays on the two storey extension. 
 

PLANNING HISTORY 2010 TO PRESENT 11/0723/LA - Install P V panels to roof of 
school - Granted - 26.10.2011. 
 

16/0187/LA - Erect two small scale extensions to the existing school building to provide 
essential additional storage and resources spaces - Granted - 30.08.2016. 

 
16/0564/LA - Erect a single-storey pitched roof extension providing two additional 
classrooms, toilets, resource areas and circulation constructed in two phases - Granted 

- 30.08.2016. 
 

17/0111/COND - Discharge conditions 5 (bat roost provision) and 6 (breeding bird 
provision) of planning consent 16/0564/LA (Erect a single-storey pitched roof extension 
providing two additional classrooms, toilets, resource areas and circulation constructed 

in two phases) - Decided - 05.04.2017. 
 

17/0059/NMA - Seek approval of a non-material amendment to planning consent 
16/0564/LA (Erect a single-storey pitched roof extension providing two additional 
classrooms, toilets, resource areas and circulation constructed in two phases) to amend 

the proposed layout to reduce the size - Granted - 15.02.2017. 
 

POLICY 
 
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up 

to November 2021 - Adopted 2010. 
 

Site Allocation: The site is located within the settlement boundary of Ystrad Mynach. 
 
Policies: SP2 (Development Strategy - Development in the Northern Connections 

Corridor (NCC)), SP4 (Settlement Strategy), Policy SP5 (Settlement Boundaries), Policy 
SP6 (Place Making), SP10 (Conservation of Natural Heritage), SP18 (Protection of 

Strategic Leisure Network), SP21 Parking Standards), SP22 (Community, Leisure and 
Education Facilities), CW1 (Sustainable Transport Accessibility and Social Inclusion), 
CW2 (Amenity), CW3 (Design Considerations - Highways), CW4 (Natural Heritage 

Protection), CW5 (Protection of the Water Environment), CW6 (Trees, Woodland and 
Hedgerow Protection), CW7 (Protection of Open Space), CW8 (Protection of 

Community and Leisure Facilities), CW15 (General Locational Constraints) and LE1 
(Protection of Formal Open Spaces). 

Page 27



 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: LDP 6 (Building Better Places to Live), LDP 4 

(Trees and Development), LDP 5 (Car Parking Standards), LDP 8 (Protection of Open 
Space) and Ystrad Mynach Masterplan (2019). 

 
NATIONAL POLICY Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (2021), Planning Policy 
Wales Edition 11 (2021), Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning 

(2009), Technical Advice Note 11: Noise (October 1997), Technical Advice Note 12: 
Design (2016), Technical Advice Note 16: Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009) 

and Technical Advice Note 18: Transport (2007). 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
Did the application have to be screened for an EIA? No. 

 
Was an EIA required? Not applicable. 
 

COAL MINING LEGACY 
 

Is the site within an area where there are mining legacy issues? The site is located 
within a low risk coal mining legacy area, informative advice will however be provided 
and should any issues arise this will be dealt with through the Building Regulations 

approval process. 
 

CONSULTATION 
 
 

Natural Resources Wales - Awaiting further comments regarding the revised 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) submitted in response to 

previous comments relating to suggested conditions to be imposed to any consent. 
 
Should further comments be received in the interim, these will be reported to Members 

verbally during Planning Committee. 
 

Transportation Engineering Manager - CCBC - The Transport Statement prepared by 
Hydrock sets out the highway/ transport element of the proposed scheme. On review 
the Highway Authority consider that the methodology and its conclusions are 

acceptable. The increase in vehicle movements will not have a significant impact on the 
local highway network, and the proposed parking provision as shown is in accordance 

with LDP5 - Parking Standards and is therefore acceptable, as is the proposed layout 
as shown on the Site Plan 90060 - P03. No objection is raised subject to conditions. 
 

Environmental Health Manager - No objection subject to conditions imposed to any 
consent relating to controlling noise and dust suppression. 

 

Page 28



Senior Engineer (Drainage) - Advises that the proposed development requires 
Sustainable Drainage Approval. 

 
Dwr Cymru - No objection however informative advice is provided. 

 
Waste Strategy And Operations Manager - No objection, informative advice is also 
provided. 

 
Social Services (Mental Health / Adult Services) - No comments received. 

 
Strategic & Development Plans - In principle no objection subject to seeking the views 
of the relevant consultees in relation to Policies CW3, CW4 and CW6. 

 
Heritage Officer - Peter Thomas - The proposed development is located approximately 

200m south-east of the Church of Holy Trinity (Grade II) and 200m north-west the War 
Memorial (Grade II) and 250m northwest of the Old Fire Station (Grade II). 
 

The Church is wholly screened from the proposed development by the existing school. 
As a result there will be no impact on the setting of this listed building arising from it. 

 
Both the War Memorial and Old Fire Station have been relocated from their original 
locations meaning their setting makes a much more limited contribution to the 

significance of each building. 
 

Given the above, I am of the view that the proposed extension will have no impact on 
the setting of the listed buildings identified above. 
 

Placemaking Officer - Douglas McGlyn - No objection. 
 

Senior Arboricultural Officer (Trees) - No comments received. 
 
Landscape Architect - CCBC - In principle there is no objection subject to conditions, 

however some concerns are raised in respect of tree loss. Informative advice is also 
provided to be conveyed to the applicant. 

 
Chief Fire Officer - No objection but provides informative advice to be conveyed to the 
applicant. 

 
Western Power Distribution - No comments received. 

 
Estates Manager - No objection. 
 

 

Page 29



ADVERTISEMENT 
 

Extent of advertisement: The application was advertised in the press, by way of site 
notices and twelve neighbouring occupiers were notified by letter. 

 
Response: Thirteen letters of representation in support of the development have been 
received. 

One objection letter has been received from Gelligaer Community Council. 
The application was also called in by a ward member for Ystrad Mynach. 

 
Summary of observations: A summary of the representations received are as follows: 
 
Comments received in support of the development:  

 

1. Trinity Fields is an award winning education establishment who needs all the support 
from the community as possible. 
2. The extension and surrounding developments will enhance the experiences and 

opportunities for the pupils. 
3. This school has changed the lives of both the pupils and their families and provides 

continuous support. 
4. Development of the school and the additional funding requirements is much needed. 
5. Ideally a new school is required but an extension will suffice in the meantime. 

6. The proposal is an important first step in addressing the ever-increasing demand for 
places at the school and its expansion is urgently needed. 

7. The plans display a good balance between the need to create extra teaching space 
and resource areas with the visual and environmental effects of development. 
8. The extension proposal is critical to the school maintaining its excellent 

categorisation, as evidenced in the 2019 ESTYN school inspection and continuing to be 
an inclusive school. 

9. The school is recognised by parents/carers, CCBC and the EAS as being one of the 
top performing special schools in Wales. 
10. The extension proposal would provide improved accommodation and technologies 

for the most vulnerable learners and staff. 
 
Comments received from Gelligaer Community Council objecting to the proposed 
development: 

 

11. The loss of a green space will threaten the well-being and health of local people. 
12. The development could affect the Green Flag status on the park. 

13. Parking between two rugby pitches will raise issues of safety. 
14. The development will potentially increase the risk of flooding. 
15. Loss of biodiversity. 

 

Page 30



SECTION 17 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 
 

What is the likely effect of the determination of this application on the need for the Local 
Planning Authority to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area? 

There are no specific crime and disorder implications material to the determination of 
this application. 
 

EU HABITATS DIRECTIVE 
 

Does the development affect any protected wildlife species? The Preliminary Ecological 
Assessment and bat survey submitted confirms that bat activity surveys were 
undertaken during the summer months of June 2021. Direct evidence of bat use was 

identified; a single Common Pipistrelle (Pipistrellus pipistrellus) was observed emerging 
from the same place during both emergence surveys. A maximum of 1 bat was 

observed using the building as a day roost during the emergence surveys. The 
emergence surveys did not identify a maternity roost and the buildings did not offer 
significant potential for hibernating bats. 

 
Whilst the school building is now a confirmed bat roost it should also be noted that the 

proposed extension does not impact on the identified bat roost location or interfere with 
the roof space of the existing school. However careful consideration has been given to 
the use of lighting within the site. Consequently, in that there are no planned works to 

the roof space of the existing school, the Local Planning Authority does not deem it 
necessary to apply the three tests as part of the considerations in the determination for 

this application. This will be a matter for the applicant to address as part of any future 
planned phased developments on the site. Informative advice to this effect will also be 
conveyed to the applicant. 

 
Policy 9 of Future Wales - The National Plan 2040 states that action towards securing 

the maintenance and enhancement of biodiversity (to provide a net benefit), the 
resilience of ecosystems and green infrastructure assets must be demonstrated as part 
of development proposals through innovative, nature based approaches to site planning 

and the design of the built environment. As scheme for biodiversity enhancement has 
been included as part of the proposed development. 

 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 

Is this development Community Infrastructure Levy liable? Yes the development is CIL 
liable as the proposal intends to create more than 100 square metres of additional floor 

space. However, the proposed uses are charged at £0 per square metre for new 
development, as such no CIL will be collected. 
 

ANALYSIS 
 

Policies: Full planning permission is sought to erect a two storey extension, single 
storey link to form a new main entrance to the school, additional parking, outdoor play 

Page 31



spaces and associated works to an existing Additional Learning Needs School part of 
the wider Sustainable Communities for Learning programme, which is a major long-term 

capital investment programme jointly funded by the Welsh Government and the Local 
Authority. 

 
The proposed development is for the extension of facilities at Trinity Fields School and 
Resource Centre which includes additional parking provision as part of the council's 

Sustainable Communities for Learning programme. The school caters for pupils from 
the ages of 3-19 with a wide range of educational needs and requirements and the 

extension to the existing school would provide additional facilities to accommodate the 
growing demand for school places for an additional 80 pupils. 
 

The extension of the school is proposed on land immediately south of the existing 
school building. The proposal also contains additional car parking provision on two 

areas of land, one east of the existing school building and the other to the south of the 
adjacent playing pitch identified as T1 which is designated Education land with the 
identified deed package associated with Trinity Fields School and Resource Centre and 

Ty Graddfa. 
 

The main considerations in the determination of this application are: 
 
- The principle of development on the site; 

- The impact upon trees and landscaping; 
- The impact upon ecology; 

- The protection of open space; 
- The protection of community and leisure facilities; 
- The visual impact of the development in terms of place making, design and layout; 

- The impact upon residential amenity; and 
- The impact upon the highway network. 

 
THE PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT ON THE SITE 
 

The application site is an existing school and resource centre located in the Northern 
Connections Corridor. Policy SP5 (Settlement Boundaries) is the key policy mechanism 

for achieving resource efficient settlements within the Local Development Plan (LDP). 
The delineation of the settlement boundary defines the area within which development 
would normally be allowed, taking into account material planning considerations. 

Importantly it promotes the full and effective use of urban land and concentrates 
development within existing settlements. The application site falls within the defined 

settlement boundary of Ystrad Mynach and in policy terms further development of the 
site would be consistent with Policy SP5 of the Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan up to 2021 - Adopted 2010 in that it promotes the full and effective 

use of urban land and serves to concentrate new development within the existing 
settlement. 

 

Page 32



TREES AND LANDSCAPING 
 

Criterion D of Policy SP2 (Development in the Northern Connections Corridor) seeks to 
protect the natural heritage from inappropriate development. In tandem with criterion D 

of Policy SP2, Policy SP10 (Conservation of Natural Heritage) is of relevance and 
indicates that the Council will protect, conserve, enhance and manage this asset in the 
consideration of all development proposals. 

 
In tandem with the above Policy CW6 (Trees, Woodland and Hedgerow Protection) 

requires proposals to ensure that effective measures are taken to ensure the protection 
of trees, woodland and hedgerows where they make a positive contribution to the 
natural and built environment. More specifically, the policy requires reasonable efforts to 

retain trees, woodlands and hedgerows as part of development proposals; arboricultural 
surveys to provide adequate mitigation and compensation for any that are removed; and 

adequate protection measures for root systems of any that are retained. Whilst there 
are no Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs) on site, there are however a series of mature 
trees present along the western, northern, and southern boundary of the site. Details of 

these are shown on the tree constraints plan, within the accompanying Arboricultural 
Report and Tree Survey. The proposed layout has been designed to minimise the loss 

of existing trees and hedgerows within the site however the site does contain a range of 
young to early mature trees and hedgerows within the school grounds which present a 
number of arboricultural constraints and therefore a number of trees within the school 

site would be lost to facilitate the extension and associated works, however most of the 
trees identified for removal are low quality Category 'C', it should also be noted that 

three smaller moderate-quality Category 'B' trees would also require removal. The 
identified trees and hedgerows have been fully detailed in the Arboricultural Survey 
Report, however it is anticipated that these losses can be mitigated by replacement 

planting that will be of a similar maturity within 20 years. Furthermore, given the early 
age of some of the tree specimens, it is hopeful that some of the trees can be removed 

safely without compromising their existing root systems and re-planted elsewhere within 
the site to supplement and enhance the proposed landscaping scheme. 
 

It should also be noted that the additional parking spaces to be provided at the entrance 
area adjacent to the nearest playing sports pitch (T1) to the south of the school is 

currently used for the siting of unauthorised storage containers underneath the existing 
tree canopies, this area would be subject to a no-dig construction to safeguard the root 
protection areas of the existing trees. Additional off-site tree planting works within this 

area is also proposed. 
 

The Arboricultural Report and Tree Survey has been undertaken by an experienced 
arborist and present an unbiased third-party opinion offering professional advice on the 
value of the trees on or adjacent to this site. The conclusions of the Arboricultural 

Report confirm that subject to adhering to the suggested tree protection 
recommendations, the proposed development can be constructed without any 

significant long-term adverse impact on the retained trees or the visual amenity of the 
area. Overall, there is no net loss in the total number of trees and therefore, subject to 

Page 33



ensuring that the tree reports and associated landscaping plans are listed as part of the 
approved plans and documents condition, the proposed development complies with 

Policy CW6. 
 

In terms of landscaping, the existing site predominantly comprises of hard surfacing with 
limited areas of soft landscaping. The proposal would result in the loss of a small area 
of highway verge to the east of the existing building and an additional area of land to the 

south of the existing rugby pitch to accommodate additional car parking and a new 
pedestrian footpath. A detailed landscaping scheme has been submitted and has been 

carefully considered in order to create an attractive and welcoming environment that will 
enhance the overall aesthetic appeal of the proposed school extension. The proposed 
landscaping will aim to provide a welcoming and inviting outdoor space for students, 

staff, and visitors alike, promoting a sense of community and well-being. The existing 
native and semi-native perimeter planting is to be enhanced and protected to help aid 

visual amenity and to improve biodiversity. 
 
Much of the new landscaping around the extension will be to provide appropriate 

learning and play space for the pupils and to cater for their more complex needs, which 
in turn will maximise their learning experience. In the hard landscape areas this will be a 

blend of surface treatments including tarmac (to accommodate occasional service 
vehicles), resin bound gravel and wet pour safety flooring. Much of the new landscaping 
around the extension will be to provide appropriate learning and play space for the 

pupils. 
 

Together with providing a learning resource the soft landscape areas will also provide 
an appropriate environment that supports the enhancement of ecology and promotes 
well-being. The primary areas of landscaping include a memorial garden, allotments 

and forest school. The planting scheme is native to the locality and includes a variety of 
trees, shrubs, and groundcover's that will promote biodiversity and attract pollinators. It 

is therefore considered that a suitable approach has been taken to landscaping and 
biodiversity with retention of trees where possible as well as enhancement of the 
biodiversity opportunities within the site. No objection is raised by this Council's 

Landscape Officer but informative advice is provided regarding some planting choices. 
The details submitted are however considered acceptable in planning terms and should 

the applicant wish to review any planting changes, there are appropriate mechanisms 
that can be utilised to change the planting scheme, if required. 
 

ECOLOGY 
 

Alongside Policies SP2, SP10 and CW6, Policy CW4 (Natural Heritage Protection) 
states that development proposals must conserve, and where appropriate, enhance the 
ecological importance of local designations, or, where the need for the development 

outweighs the ecological importance of the site, the harm must be minimised by 
mitigation measures and offset as far as practicable by compensation measures. The 

site is not covered by any statutory or non-statutory nature conservation designations 

Page 34



however SINC Coedcae Mawr, NH 3.83 is immediately adjacent to the south-western 
boundary of the school site. 

 
An Ecological Impact Assessment Report and Bat Survey Report have been submitted 

to accompany the application and based on the surveys undertaken in 2021 and in 
years prior to that the report confirms that a low number of bat calls were recorded and 
a bat was observed using the south-western gable. Whilst the building is confirmed as a 

bat roost, the proposed development would not affect the roof space of the existing 
school. Therefore having regard to the location of the building, the presence of a bat 

roost within the existing school building, being in a semi-rural environment with excellent 
ecological connectivity to suitable feeding areas, together with its proximity to Coedcae 
Mawr SINC, makes the location of the building suitable for bat use. The 

recommendations contained within the reports confirm that a detailed external lighting 
plan will be required to minimise any external light disturbance to the bats using the 

building and the surrounding area along with protecting the hedgerow to the rear of the 
site from light spill. 
 

There is a need to provide additional external amenity and security lighting within the 
development site, the external lighting scheme submitted considers the key ecological 

impacts and the associated proposed mitigation strategy addresses observations of 
bats commuting over the school and the confirmed bat roost to the south-west of the 
existing building by directing luminaires downwards and controlled via passive infrared 

(PIR) sensors. 
 

Additional measures to enhance biodiversity and habitat potential include the 
incorporation of bird and boxes within the rainscreen cladding of the proposed extension 
together with providing species rich planting to encourage wildlife and pollinators in 

addition to the SUDs features. 
 

The application is also accompanied by a comprehensive Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) undertaken by a Tier 1 contractor and included within the 
CEMP is a detailed Environmental Risk Assessment which identifies all individual 

health, safety and environmental considerations and their significance along with 
appropriate mitigation for any activities during the construction phase of the 

development. 
 
The Council's Ecologist has raised no objection to the proposed development and it is 

therefore considered that the proposed development would comply with the 
requirements of Policies SP10 and CW4. 

 
PROTECTION OF OPEN SPACE 
 

Policy CW7 (Protection of Open Space) identifies the circumstances where 
development on open space would be permitted. The Council has prepared 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) on the Protection of Open Space to clarify 
what is protected under Policy CW7 (informal open space) and what is protected under 

Page 35



Policy CW8 (formal open space). The small area of land proposed for additional car 
parking to the east of the existing school building is highway verge and would be 

included under the classification of CW7.  
 

Policy CW7 states that developments on areas of open space within settlements will 
only be permitted where: 
 

A) The amount of open space remaining in the neighbourhood would still be 
adequate to serve local needs; and  

 
B) The site has no significant value as a recreational resource or an area of visual 
amenity. 

 
The methodology in the SPG is based upon the Fields in Trust (FIT) Benchmark 

Standards for Outdoor Play. The FIT standard indicates that there should be 0.55 
Hectares of informal playing space per 1000 population, which, when applied to a 
geographical area, broadly equates to 3 Hectares of informal open space within a 0.5 

km radius of a site. 
 

Where the radius encompasses areas of land that are not within the settlement 
boundary, the threshold needs to be recalculated so the amount of open space required 
is proportionate to the land that is within the settlement boundary. On a pro rata basis 

this would equate to a requirement of approximately 2.3 Hectares as only 77.4% of the 
buffer area lies within the settlement boundary. 

 
An assessment has been undertaken of open space within a 0.5 km radius. The 
assessment indicated that development of the site would result in 3.1 Hectares of 

usable informal open space remaining in the area and this far exceeds the required 2.3 
Hectares. This is therefore acceptable in terms of criterion A of Policy CW7. 

 
However, the proposal would also need to adhere to criterion B of Policy CW7. This 
area is classified as highway verge and has no significant value as a recreational 

resource. However, the area does have some visual amenity as the current landscape 
provides a natural barrier between the school and traffic on the A472. The proposed car 

parking provision on this area of land is likely to erode the screen currently provided by 
the landscape. However, this can be addressed through the proposed landscaping 
scheme that provides low level screening of the parking areas. 

 
In addition, the proposal also includes additional parking provision on an area of land 

south of the existing playing pitch (T1). Outdoor sports facilities including playing pitches 
are protected under Policy CW8 (Protection of Community and Leisure Facilities). 
 

PROTECTION OF COMMUNITY AND LEISURE FACILITIES 
 

Policy CW8 states that proposals that would result in the loss of a community and/or 
leisure facility will not be permitted except where: 

Page 36



 
A) A comparable replacement facility can be provided by the developer either on or 

off site, and within easy and convenient access on foot or by bicycle, or 
 

B) It can be demonstrated that the facility is surplus to requirements. 
 
The existing playing pitch (T1) and its immediate surroundings are considered as 

community/leisure land but it is important to note that this land does not form part of the 
curtilage associated with the wider Ystrad Mynach Park and it should be emphasised 

that the proposed development would not result in the loss of any of the playing pitch. 
However, a small area of land would be used for car parking to serve the proposed 
development during peak times. Presently this area is used for the siting of storage 

containers, which appear to be unauthorised and the removal of the containers from this 
location would also be advantageous in visual amenity terms. Consequently, the 

proposed off-site parking area is not considered to be contrary to Policy CW8 in that the 
additional car parking provision would not restrict access to the playing pitch by 
members of the public. The submitted details do not propose the construction of off-site 

fencing to enclose the site and in that all of the land is within the ownership of the Local 
Authority identified as Education Land, the collective aim is for all users to enjoy safe 

and convenient access to both the playing facilities and the wider park. 
 
PLACE MAKING, DESIGN AND LAYOUT 

 
In line with national planning policy, Policy SP6 (Place Making) requires development 

proposals to contribute to the creation of sustainable places by having full regard to the 
context of the local, natural, historic and built environment and its special features. 
Policy SP6 requires new development to incorporate resource efficiency and passive 

solar gain through layout, materials, construction techniques, water conservation and 
where appropriate through the use of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS). In 

that the proposed development exceeds more than 100 square metres of floor space 
the development will require SUDs approval. The accompanying drainage strategy and 
landscaping scheme indicates that the proposed drainage design maximises the use of 

multiple above ground including both green and blue roofs, soft SuDS features which 
will create habitats that are self-sustaining and resilient to climate change and link with 

the local natural and semi-natural species and habitats within the wider area together 
with retaining any existing landscaping, where possible. Those technical details will 
require consideration from the Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB), an 

independent approval process outside of planning legislation. 
 

The planning system has to play a role in making the development resilient to tackling 
the climate emergency through the decarbonisation of the energy system, improving air 
quality and the sustainable management of natural resources along with shaping the 

social, economic, environmental and cultural factors which determine health and which 
promote or impact on well-being in line with the Healthier Wales goal as part of the 

Well-being of Future Generations Act. In that regard the proposed development has 
been designed to achieve the Building Research Establishment Environmental 

Page 37



Assessment Method (BREEAM) 'Excellent' rating for energy efficiency with an overall 
BREEAM rating of 'Very Good' together with achieving an Energy Performance 

Certificate (EPC) rating of 'A'. A detailed Energy Statement accompanies the application 
with the building designed as a sustainable development utilising low energy and 

passive means of heating, cooling and ventilation with highly efficient LED lighting and 
automated controls to reduce energy consumption. The building is also to be 
constructed from responsibly sourced materials and includes the incorporation of solar 

photo voltaic roof panels and electric vehicle charging infrastructure. 
 

From a place making perspective the overall character of the school site will remain, 
however rather than seek to replicate the architectural forms of the existing single storey 
school, the new designs promote a building which is simple and contemporary, and is 

considered to positively contrast with the current context, and reflect a modern learning 
community. 

 
In terms of the scale and massing the main extension will be 2 storey's in height and 
taller than the existing school building to enable sufficient space to accommodate the 

requirements for the school and to also maintain a limited footprint in order to allow 
external space around the extension for appropriate external play areas and 

landscaping. Whilst the extension will be taller in height, the simple flat roof design 
reduces the overall scale and massing and the overall composition of the two forms will 
be closely related. 

 
With regards to its siting the two storey extension is located immediately to the south 

and parallel with the existing school and adjacent to the existing school entrance. The 
existing school entrance is to be re-designed and re-configured with the addition of a 
single storey flat roof extension to act as a transitional linking structure between the 

existing school and the two storey extension and will serve as a main entrance to both 
and the external finishes will match those of the two storey extension. 

 
In terms of design rather than seek to replicate the architectural forms of the existing 
single storey school, the design of the building would introduce a positive composition of 

elevations that would reflect the purpose and proposed use of the site. The submitted 
materials schedule reflect that the development has been designed to meet the needs 

of the Sustainable Communities for Learning programme and the external finishes 
include a combination of traditional and modern materials and provides a combination of 
striking, colourful and playful composition that is considered to be entirely appropriate in 

its context for a school of the type. 
 

To accommodate suitable access and facilities to serve the proposed school, the 
existing vehicle drop-off area will be repositioned to the east on the axis of the new 
entrance and single storey linked extension. A new one-way system will lead past the 

main entrance to a covered walkway to link the vehicle drop-off area directly to the new 
main entrance associated with the school. 

 

Page 38



The existing car park area will be slightly re-configured to accommodate the relocated 
vehicle drop-off area and whilst existing car parking spaces would be lost as part of this 

re-configuration, replacement and additional car parking provision would be provided. 
 

Cyclists will utilise the new path to the school and a new pedestrian access into the 
school site has been proposed off Caerphilly Road to allow for convenient access 
primarily for use by the school when planning walking trips to Ystrad Mynach town 

centre. Whilst there would a be a degree of alteration to the character of the highway 
verge as a result of improving pedestrian, cycling and car parking provision it is 

considered that the landscaping submitted, once planted and established, would 
suitably mitigate any significant concerns with regard to the associated works. 
 

Overall, whilst the proposed building would undoubtedly introduce a visible and 
contemporary designed building within the site, it is considered to be of an appropriate 

size, siting and design for its setting and proposed function. Furthermore, in that the 
extension has been sited internally away from the school's perimeter boundaries, the 
set back distances in excess of 50 metres away from the A472 (Caerphilly Road) and 

the rear gardens of Trinity Close does provide assistance in mitigating the increased 
massing of the building to an extent whereby the proposed extension would not appear 

visually intrusive or incongruous. The proposed development is therefore considered 
acceptable in design terms in accordance with Policy SP6. 
 

AMENITY 
 

Policy CW2 (Amenity) states that development proposals should have no unacceptable 
impact on the amenity of adjacent properties or land; should not result in the over-
development of the site; and the proposed use is compatible with surrounding land-

uses. Having regard to the existing use of the site as a school and given the distances 
away from the nearest residential properties, the proposed development is considered 

to be compatible with the surrounding land uses and would not result in any significant 
harm in terms of visual amenity of the surrounding area or residential amenity. 
Furthermore, the proposed development can accommodate the relevant levels of car 

parking and operational space along with providing soft landscaping areas within the 
site and as such is not considered to represent over-development and therefore accords 

with Policy CW2. 
 
TRANSPORT AND ACCESS 

 
Policy CW1 (Sustainable Transport, Accessibility and Social Inclusion) requires 

development proposals that have the potential to generate a significant number of trips 
(either as an origin or a destination) to be designed to ensure that car borne trips are 
kept to a minimum. It is therefore important to ensure that provision is made within the 

development to actively encourage walking and cycling and that appropriate 
infrastructure is included in the layout to facilitate short trips on foot. In that regard, 

whilst most pupils would travel by car or bus to the school, for staff, the site is in a 
sustainable location close to bus stops and within easy reach of Ystrad Mynach railway 

Page 39



station. Pedestrian and cycle route highway improvements are proposed and this 
accords with the aim of increasing the use of more sustainable transport modes. 

 
It is acknowledged that the proposed development will generate new trips to and from 

the site, particularly as the school catchment is the whole of the county borough. 
However, in terms of sustainable transport, if the proposed development were not to 
take place the additional pupils with additional learning needs would be required to go to 

schools outside of the authority and this would result in significantly longer trips for the 
pupils, than those to Trinity Fields. As such, the proposal accords with Welsh 

Government's sustainable transport aim of reducing the length of car borne journeys. 
Furthermore, whilst there are also a very small number of pupils who travel from outside 
the county borough, whose journey lengths are likely to increase, but this does not 

outweigh the benefit of the proposed development in sustainable transport terms.  
 

It is therefore considered that the range of accessible and sustainable travel choices to 
and from the development site does reduce the need for some staff and community 
users to travel to/from the site by private motor vehicles.  

 
Policy CW3 (Design Considerations - Highways) requires development proposals to 

have regard for the safe, effective and efficient use of the transportation network. The 
submitted Transport Statement confirms that the existing school vehicular access wi ll 
remain as existing, but the internal arrangements will be amended to provide access to 

a new one-way drop off and collection area to accommodate minibus movements to 
avoid potential conflict and congestion issues that could arise in the wider area. In terms 

of parking, the proposed school extension will result in the loss of 26 car parking 
spaces. However, a new car parking area of 15 spaces is proposed immediately to the 
east of the School and to the north of Penallta Rugby Club. Furthermore, in line wi th 

SPG LDP 5 Car Parking Standards, an additional 36 parking spaces are proposed in 
between the sports pitch and park to the south of the school with two additional spaces 

on the access road leading to the school gates. This will provide a total car parking 
provision for the school of 105 spaces, a 27 space increase on the existing provision. 
 

It should also be noted that all pupils commute to and from the school by minibus, taxi 
or by car during both morning and afternoon peak hours. Drop off and pick up is 

organised by the school to minimise delays and conflict in that it can take between 35-
50 minutes for all children to be dropped off and collected. The number of vehicle trips 
associated with the pupil collections is not considered to have an adverse impact on the 

local highway network. Furthermore, whilst there would be a need to increase staffing 
levels at the school, the Transport Statement anticipates a total increase of 38 vehicle 

movements associated with staff travel and those staff trips will be likely to occur during 
separate time periods to the pupil pick-up and drop-offs. Moreover, not all staff are 
present on site at the same time. Collectively, the anticipated number of trips to and 

from the site is considered to have minimal impact on the surrounding highway network. 
 

The application is also accompanied by a Staff Travel Plan with its intended purpose to 
encourage and influence long-term changes in sustainable travel behaviours with a view 

Page 40



to improving the health of all users to the site and to encourage greater take up of 
walking and cycling to the site for locally employed staff as well as contributing to the 

wider issue and commitment to reduce vehicle emissions. 
 

The Council's Transportation Engineering Manager has reviewed the supporting 
information in full and no objection has been raised subject to a number of highway 
related conditions. The application is therefore considered to be acceptable in highway 

safety terms and compliant with Policies CW1 and CW3. 
 

CONCLUSION 
 
In conclusion, the site is previously developed land within the defined settlement 

boundary of Ystrad Mynach on existing Education land. The proposed development 
complies with both local and national planning policies and will deliver additional 

necessary space to accommodate the growing number of pupils requiring additional 
learning needs, without significantly impacting upon the operations of the existing 
school. Having regard to the above observations, subject to conditions the proposed 

development is considered acceptable in planning terms. 
 

Comments from Consultees: The Environmental Health Manager has requested the 
imposition of conditions to any consent to control noise and dust suppression during the 
construction phase of the development, however detailed information to this effect and 

the operational practices of the appointed Tier 1 Contractor should planning permission 
be granted is contained with the Construction Environmental Management Plan 

(CEMP). 
 
Comments from public: The comments raised in support of the application in points 1-10 

are noted and reinforce the need for the extension to the school. 
 

In terms of the objection comments received by Gelligaer Council each will be 
addressed in turn:- 
 

11. The loss of a green space will threaten the well-being and health of local people. 
All of the land associated with the application site is within the ownership of the Local 

Authority (Education) and not within the curtilage of the park. At present, the land in 
question is occupied by two unsightly unauthorised storage containers located between 
the playing pitch to the north and the fence demarcating the boundary of the park to the 

south. The playing pitch will still be accessible in the same manner as it is at present, as 
will the pedestrian access to the wider park. On that basis there is no reason to indicate 

that the proposed development will threaten the well-being and health of the local 
people. Furthermore, it is reasonable to consider the health and well-being of the 
vulnerable pupils attending the school and their additional learning needs can be 

strengthened and enhanced should members decide to approve the development. 
 

Page 41



12. The development could affect the Green Flag status on the park. 
As stated above in point 11 all of the land associated with the application site is within 

the ownership of the Local Authority and is Education land. The land is not within the 
curtilage of the park and the relevant documentation has been submitted to evidence 

this. There is no reason to indicate that the provision of additional parking spaces to be 
made available for use to the wider community outside of school hours will compromise 
the management strategy, biodiversity and accessibility of the park. Additional parking 

sensitively designed and located can only enhance the existing community/leisure 
provision. 

 
13. Parking between two rugby pitches will raise issues of safety. 
There is currently a fence along the boundary and the park to the south and there is a 

protection barrier in place between the area of car parking and the rugby pitch to the 
north to prevent cars from entering the field. The parking area has been designed to 

ensure cars can safely enter, manoeuvre, and exit the proposed car park. The details 
have been reviewed by the Council's Transportation Engineering Manager and no 
objection is raised. 

 
14. The development will potentially increase the risk of flooding. 

The parking area to the south of the ruby pitch will be no dig construction and will be 
fully permeable. The existing ground is not impacted in terms of infiltration potential and 
the existing hydraulic regime will not be impacted or affected. Furthermore the 

development is subject to Sustainable Drainage Approval. 
 

15. Loss of biodiversity. 
The application submission is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Assessment 
Report (PEA) and a Bat Survey produced by Ecological Serviced Ltd. The PEA confirms 

that no direct impacts to the identified bat roost location on the southern elevation of the 
school will be experienced by these proposals. To avoid any indirect impacts, the PEA 

provides several recommendations including careful consideration to lighting type and 
location, replacement tree planting, and installation of bird and bat boxes. These 
recommendations have been included in the submission details. With these mitigation 

measures in place, the proposal is considered to be acceptable. Furthermore, there is 
no reason to indicate that the additional parking areas adjacent to the playing pitch to 

the south of the school site will result in the loss of biodiversity in that the area is 
currently occupied by storage containers and the grassed areas are cut and maintained 
on a regular basis. 

 
Other material considerations: None. 

 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, has been considered in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 

under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. In reaching 
the recommendation below, the ways of working set out at section 5 of that Act have 

been taken into account, and it is considered that the recommendation is consistent with 
the sustainable development principle as required by section 8 of that Act. 

Page 42



 
Future Wales - The National Plan 2040 was published on 24 February 2021 and forms 

part of the statutory development plan for the county borough. In addition to this 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) has been amended to take account of Future Wales and 

PPW Edition 11 has also been published on 24th February 2021. In reaching the 
conclusion below full account has been taken of both Future Wales and PPW Edition 11 
and where they are particularly pertinent to the consideration of the proposals they have 

been considered as part of the officer's report. It is considered that the 
recommendation(s) in respect of the proposals is (are) in conformity with both Future 

Wales and PPW Edition 11. 
 
RECOMMENDATION that Permission be GRANTED 

 
This permission is subject to the following condition(s) 

 
 
01) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five 

years from the date of this permission. 
 REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 
02) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents: 
 Dwg No. 90050 Revision P03 Site Location Plan received on 13.06.2023; 

 Dwg No. 90060 Revision P05 Proposed Site Plan received on 13.06.2023; 
 Dwg No. 01060 Revision P02 Proposed Ground Floor Plan - Proposed received 

on 13.06.2023; 

 Dwg No. 01061 Revision P02 Proposed First Floor Plan - Proposed received on 
13.06.2023; 

 Dwg No. 01063 Revision P02 Proposed Overall Roof Plan - Proposed received 
on 13.06.2023; 

 Dwg No. 02051 Revision P03 North East and South East Elevations received on 

13.06.2023; 
 Dwg No. 02052 Revision P03 South West and North West Elevations received 

on 13.06.2023; 
 Dwg No: 61110-DWG-001-P2-S3 Landscape GA Plan received on 12.05.2023; 
 Dwg No: 61110-DWG-002-P2-S3 Carpark Boundary Hedge Planting Plan 

received on 12.05.2023; 
 Dwg No: 61110-DWG-003-P2-S3 Indicative Offsite Planting Planting Plan 

received on 12.05.2023; 
 Dwg No: 61110-DWG-004-P2-S3 Forest Garden Planting Plan received on 

12.05.2023; 

 Dwg No: 61110-DWG-005-P2-S3 Memorial Garden Planting Plan received on 
12.05.2023; 

 Dwg No. 5239-HYD-V1-XX-DR-C-04000 Revision P01 Proposed Drainage and 
SUDs Strategy Sheet 1 received on 05.05.2023; 

Page 43



 Dwg No. 5239-HYD-V1-XX-DR-C-04001 Revision P01 Proposed Drainage and 
SUDs Strategy Sheet 2 received on 05.05.2023; 

 Dwg No. 5239-HYD-V1-XX-DR-C-04002 Revision P01 Proposed Drainage and 
SUDs Strategy Sheet 3 received on 05.05.2023; 

 Dwg No. 5239-HYD-V1-XX-DR-E-92000 Revision P01 External Lighting Layout 
Sheet 1 received on 05.05.2023; 

 Dwg No. 5239-HYD-V1-XX-DR-E-92001 Revision P01 External Lighting Layout 

Sheet 2 received on 05.05.2023; 
 DWG No. 27991-HYD-XX-XX-DR-TP-0101 Revision P01 Mini Bus Swept Path 

Analysis received on 12.06.2023; 
 DWG No. 27991-HYD-XX-XX-DR-TP-0102 Revision P01 Refuse Vehicle Swept 

Path Analysis received on 12.06.2023; 

 DWG No. 27991-HYD-XX-XX-DR-TP-0103 Revision P01 Fire Tender Swept 
Path Analysis received on 12.06.2023; 

 Report 27991-HYD-XX-XX-RP-TP-6001 Travel Plan received on 12.06.2023; 
 Report 5239-HYD-V1-XX-TN-E-00001 Technical Design Note for External 

Lighting Strategy received on 05.05.2023; 

 Report 0469 RIO XX XX RP A 06005 Materials Schedule received on 
19.05.2023; 

 Report A110489-6-1 Ground Investigation Report received on 05.05.2023; 
 Report T01652 CEMP (Construction Environmental Management Plan) received 

on 28.06.2023; 

 Report TFS-HYD-XX-XX-RP-Y-1001 Baseline Noise Survey received on 
05.05.2023; 

 Bat Survey prepared by Ecological Service Ltd received on 05.05.2023; 
 Preliminary Ecological Assessment prepared by Ecological Service Ltd received 

on 05.05.2023; 

 Arboricultural Report prepared by ArbTS - Arboricultural Technician Services Ltd 
received on 26.05.2023; and 

 Cycle Storage Details received on 29.06.2023. 
 REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the 

Local Planning Authority. 

 
03) All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any 
part of the development or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 

years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 

others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
written consent to any variation. 

 REASON: To ensure that the works are carried out as approved in the interests 

of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies CW2 and SP6 of the 
adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 

Page 44



04) The extension hereby approved shall not be occupied until the areas indicated 
for the parking of vehicles have been laid out in accordance with the submitted 

plans. Those areas shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other than the 
parking of vehicles. 

 REASON: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CW3 of 
the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 

05) The proposed access points into the development site shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved plans and shall be available for use prior to 

beneficial occupation of the development hereby approved. 
 REASON: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CW3 of 

the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
06) The Staff Travel Plan as submitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

timescales contained therein with regards to reducing the reliance of staff on 
commuting trips by car. 

 REASON: To encourage sustainable travel modes by staff to and from the site in 

accordance with policy CW3 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
07) The four identified electric vehicle charging bays to be provided within the site 

shall be operational with active provision prior to occupation of the development 

hereby approved, and shall be maintained in perpetuity thereafter free of 
obstruction for the parking of motor vehicles only. 

 REASON: To ensure that adequate mitigation is provided in respect of air quality 
together with promoting sustainable modes of transport in accordance with policy 
CW1 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 

2021. 
 

08) The development hereby approved shall make provision for gigabit capable 
broadband infrastructure to serve the approved development. The necessary 
infrastructure required shall be installed prior to beneficial occupation of the 

development. 
 REASON: To provide the necessary infrastructure to serve the development in 

accordance with Policy 13 of Future Wales: The National Plan 2040. 
 
09) If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 

present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation 

strategy detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
remediation strategy shall be carried out as approved. 

 REASON: To ensure the risks associated with previously unsuspected 
contamination at the site are dealt with through a remediation strategy, to 

minimise the risk to both future users of the land and neighbouring land, and to 

Page 45



ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable 
risks. 

 
10) No development or phase of development, including site clearance, shall 

commence until a site-wide Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 REASON: A site-wide CEMP should be submitted to ensure necessary 
management measures are agreed prior to commencement of development or 

phase of development and implemented for the protection of the environment 
during construction. 

 

 
Advisory Note(s) 

 
The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain 
unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining feature is encountered 

during development, this should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 
762 6848. 

  
Further information is also available on the Coal Authority website at: 
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority. 

 
Mature trees are potential bat roosts. All bat species and their roosts are protected by 

the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 and its amendment 2012, 
which transposes the EC Habitats Directive 1992 into UK legislation, and the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. If bats are discovered, then all works should stop 

immediately and the Countryside Council for Wales should be contacted for advice on 
any special precautions, and whether a licence is required, before continuing. 

 
Please also be advised that works should not take place that will disturb nesting birds 
from March to July inclusive. All British birds (while nesting, building nests and sitting on 

eggs), their nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are protected by law under 
Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside 

and Rights of Way Act 2000. If birds are nesting on/in or within the vicinity of the 
proposed development, work should be undertaken outside the breeding season for 
birds to ensure their protection, i.e. works should only be undertaken between August 

and February. Further advice on the above can be sought from the local authority 
ecologists (01495 235253) or Natural Resources Wales (NRW) (029 20 772400). 

 
Please refer to Public Access to view the full comments of the consultees that are 
brought to the applicant's attention. 

 
Warning: The applicant is advised that any future planned works to the roof space of the 

existing school building will require a European protected species (EPS) Licence. 
  

Page 46



It is an offence to deliberately capture, kill or disturb EPS or to recklessly damage or 
destroy their breeding sites or resting places. If found guilty of any offences, you could 

be sent to prison for up to 6 months and/or receive an unlimited fine.  
To undertake the works within the law, you can obtain further information on the need 

for a licence from Natural Resources Wales on 0300 065 3000 or at 
https://naturalresources.wales/conservation-biodiversity-and-wildlife/european-
protected-species/?lang+en 

 
Notification of initiation of development and display of notice: 

You must comply with your duties in section 71ZB (notification of initiation of 
development and display of notice: Wales) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
The duties include: 

  
Notice of initiation of development: 

Before beginning any development to which this planning permission relates, notice 
must be given to the local planning authority in the form set out in Schedule 5A to the 
town and Country Planning (development Management procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 

or in a form substantially to the like effect. The form sets out the details which must be 
given to the local planning authority to comply with this duty. 

  
Display of Notice: 
The person carrying out the development to which this planning permission relates must 

display at or near the place where the development is being carried out, at all times 
when it is being carried out, a notice of this planning permission in the form set out in 

Schedule 5B to the Town and country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Wales) Order 2012 or in a form substantially to the like effect.  The form sets out the 
details the person carrying out development must display to comply with this duty. 

The person carrying out the development must ensure the notice is: 
(a) Firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place at or near the place where the 

development is being carried out; 
(b) Legible and easily visible to the public without having to enter the site; and 
(c) Printed on durable material. The person carrying out development should take 

reasonable steps to protect the notice (against it being removed, obscured or defaced) 
and, if need be, replace it. 

 
WARNING:  
SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE APPROVAL IS REQUIRED PRIOR TO 

COMMENCEMENT OF THIS DEVELOPMENT. 
  

Please note from the 7th January 2019, Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 commenced in Wales requiring all new developments of more 
than one house or where the construction area is of 100m2 or more to implement 

sustainable drainage to manage on-site surface water. Surface water drainage systems 
must be designed and built in accordance with mandatory standards for sustainable 

drainage published by Welsh Ministers.  
  

Page 47



The Sustainable Drainage Approval process is a technical approval independent of the 
need to obtain planning permission, and as such you are advised to contact the 

Sustainable Drainage Approval Body. Their details are provided below: 
  

Phone: 01443 866511 
Email: drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk   
Website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 48



23/0315/LA 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50


	Agenda
	3 Cynhaliwyd y Pwyllgor Cynllunio ar 14eg Mehefin 2023.
	4 Rhif y cais. 22/1057/FULL - Uned 2, Clos Coed y Deri, Ystâd Ddiwydiannol Pen-y-fan, Pen-y-fan, Casnewydd.
	Rhif y cais. 22/1057/FULL - Cynllun Safle

	5 Rhif y cais. 23/0315/LA - Ysgol a Chanolfan Adnoddau Cae'r Drindod, Caerphilly Road, Ystrad Mynach, Hengoed CF82 7XW.
	Rhif y cais. 23/0315/LA - Cynllun Safle


